# CONSTITUTION OF THE



Being the rules by which the Society conducts its business  $\mbox{As amended on } 7^{th} \, \mbox{February 2014}$ 

## CONSTITUTION OF THE NATURAL HISTORY SOCIETY OF NORTHUMBRIA

# Being the rules by which the Society conducts its business

## 1. Name

The organisation shall be called the Natural History Society of Northumbria (hereafter called the Society).

# 2. Objects

The objects of the Society are the encouragement by every means of the study of natural history in all its branches and the conservation of the natural environment in the north east of England including its geology, flora and fauna.

#### 3. Furtherance of the Objects

In furtherance of the objects, but not otherwise, the Society shall:

- (a) endeavour to ensure that the building and grounds of its property known as the Great North Museum: Hancock and all its collections are maintained and, where appropriate, the collections extended and made accessible to the general public,
- (b) maintain and extend the Society's library and archives,
- (c) publish the Transactions of the Society and other scientific papers,
- (d) organise lectures, discussions, field meetings and other relevant activities and events
- (e) co-operate with other scientific bodies and organisations with similar objects,
- (f) provide education activities relevant to natural history,
- (g) carry out activities to conserve the native species and habitats of the north east of England and encourage appreciation of them, including the ownership and maintenance of nature reserves.

# 4. Administration

The general management and conduct of the affairs of the Society, its property, the investment and expenditure of its funds and the enforcement of this constitution shall be the responsibility of the members of an executive council, hereafter called the Council, constituted by clause 11 of this constitution.

#### 5. Powers

In furtherance of the objects but not otherwise the Council may exercise the following powers:

- (a) to raise and invest funds and to invite and receive contributions, provided that in raising funds there shall not be any substantial permanent trading activities;
- (b) to buy, take on lease or exchange, any property necessary for the achievement of the objects, and to maintain and equip it for use;
- subject to any consents required by law and to its acquisitions and disposal policies to sell, lease
  or dispose of all or any part of the property of the Society;
- (d) subject to any consents required by law to borrow money and to charge all or any part of the property of the Society with repayment of the money so borrowed;
- (e) to arrange such insurance in relation to the Society as it considers appropriate;

- (f) to form and dissolve sub-committees of the Council (including a general purposes committee) and to delegate to any such sub-committee such of its functions and authority as it may from time to time determine:
- (g) to create and constitute such sections as the Council may think fit with, if considered appropriate, delegated powers including that to expend such sums as may be made available to them by the Council;
- (h) to co-operate with other charities, voluntary bodies and statutory authorities operating in furtherance of the objects or of similar charitable purposes and to exchange information and advice with them;
- (i) to establish or support any charitable trusts, associations or institutions formed for all or any of the objects;
- to appoint such honorary and paid officers and staff as it may from time to time think fit and to invite such people as it thinks fit to attend Council meetings;
- (k) to fill the vacancy until the next annual meeting shall take place in the event that any officer or member of the Council, other than a president or vice-president, shall die, resign or become incapable of acting;
- (I) to do all such other lawful things as are necessary for the achievement of the objects.

#### 6. Membership and Classes of Members

- (a) Membership shall be open to all who have a beneficial interest in natural history.
- (b) There shall be the following classes of member:
  - (i) Ordinary members, which shall include life members who have compounded future annual subscriptions by the payment of such a sum as the Council may periodically decide.
  - (ii) Student & Young Persons membership for those people who are in full-time education or under the age of 18.
  - (iii) Honorary members, being persons who have rendered special services to the Society or who are eminently distinguished in the study of natural history or who have rendered exceptional support or service to the Society over a number of years. The number of honorary members shall be limited to ten. They shall be proposed by three members and elected at an annual meeting of members of the Society.
  - (iv) Corporate members.
- (c) Other classes of membership may be created by the Council from time to time with such privileges as the Council may decide.

# 7. Privileges of Membership

- (a) All classes of member shall be entitled to receive a copy of each Society bulletin and annual report issued whilst they are a member, to attend lectures and field meetings of the Society and to visit Gosforth Park nature reserve during such time as the Society holds an appropriate lease.
- (b) Those members who pay an additional subscription fee and honorary members shall receive copies of the Society's Transactions.
- (c) All classes of member shall have access to the Society Library and Archive Collections and may borrow books from the library on the terms set out by the Council.

- (b) Membership privileges of ordinary members, except for voting at annual or special meetings shall extend to include the husband, wife or partner of the member living at the same address and dependent children under 16.
- (c) The privileges of corporate members shall be as agreed by the Council from time to time.
- (d) Every member shall have one vote at annual and special meetings. Full voting rights shall be conferred by all classes of membership, and no other persons shall be allowed to vote.
- (e) Each corporate member shall have a single vote and shall appoint a named individual to represent it, and to vote on its behalf at meetings of the Society; and may appoint a substitute if the appointed representative is unable to attend. In each case it shall notify in writing the name of the representative to the Director. If the representative or substitute resigns from or otherwise leaves the member organisation, he or she shall forthwith cease to be the representative of the member organisation.
- (f) Membership may be terminated in accordance with Clause 9 of this constitution.

#### 8. Membership Subscriptions

- a) An annual subscription set by the Council from time to time for each class of membership (other than honorary members) will be payable except by life members, on joining and on each anniversary of joining, except for those members who joined before 1 August 2003 whose subscriptions will continue to be due on 1 August of each year.
- b) On receipt of the first subscription each member shall receive a copy of the current constitution and become entitled to the full privileges of the appropriate class of membership as detailed in Clause 7.
- c) New members shall be considered as having joined when the first subscription has been paid.

#### 9. Resignation and Termination of Membership

- (a) Members whose subscription has not been paid by the end of six months after it has become due will forfeit their membership unless the Council shall agree that there are sufficient mitigating circumstances for this not to happen. Thereafter they shall not be qualified for rejoining until the overdue subscription has been paid.
- (b) Members who leave the Society are required to return any items that they have borrowed from the Society (eg hide keys, library books, equipment) and any deposits made will be reimbursed.
- (c) The Council may with good reason terminate the membership of any individual or any member organisation who acts in a manner held to be irresponsible or detrimental to the objects, image or other members of the Society. The procedure for this shall be set out in the Society's Policies & Procedures.

# 10. Meetings

#### (a) Annual meetings

The annual meeting of the members shall be held as soon as convenient after the date on which the Society's financial year ends. At such meeting the following business shall be undertaken:

- (i) to present the report of the Council of the proceedings of the past year;
- (ii) to present the accounts for the past financial year, which have been independently examined by a suitably qualified accountant;
- (iii) to appoint a suitably qualified accountant to undertake the independent examination of the accounts for the current year;

(iv) to elect such officers and members of Council as it has power to do as described in Clause 11. Applications for such posts shall be open to all current members of the Society and shall be submitted to the Director at least 30 days before the meeting.

# (b) Special Meetings

- (i) The Council may call a special meeting of the Society at any time.
- (ii) A special meeting shall be called by the Director following the written request to the Director of not fewer than ten current members detailing the matter to be discussed. Any such meeting shall be called within 10 days of the date of receipt of the request and held within a further 28 days. At a special meeting only the business for which it is convened shall be considered.
- (c) The notice convening the annual and special meetings shall be sent to all members at least 10 days before the proposed date and the notice shall include a statement of the business to be transacted.
- (d) The quorum at annual and special meetings shall be 10.
- (e) Only members shall vote at the annual or special meetings of the Society. Apart from changes to the constitution which shall be dealt with in accordance with Clause 21 of this constitution, every question shall be decided by the majority of those present and voting by a show of hands, or if members so decide, by a paper ballot and in the event of an equal division the chairman of the meeting shall have a second, casting vote.
- (f) For the avoidance of doubt a member entitled to vote is one who has been recorded by the treasurer as having paid the appropriate subscription for the current year at the time of voting and who has not been expelled.

# 11. Composition of the Council

- (a) The Council shall comprise no more than 21 members, consisting of:
  - (i) members who are proposed either by the membership or Council;
  - (ii) the Honorary Treasurer and Honorary Director, if any;
  - (iii) up to two representatives nominated by Newcastle University.
- (b) All members of Council shall be elected for terms of three years and can serve for up to three consecutive terms.
- (c) The president, vice-presidents and section representatives shall not automatically be members of the Council but shall be eligible to be elected as a member of Council under clause 11(a). However, they shall automatically be entitled to receive papers and attend all meetings of the Council, without voting rights.
- (d) The skills, knowledge and experience of the members of the Council should, when possible, broadly reflect those required for the effective running of the Society and its activities.
- (e) At the first meeting of the Council after the annual meeting it shall appoint a chairman from amongst its members.
- (f) The members of the Council shall be responsible for the good governance of the Society, and ensuring that it is run in an efficient manner and in accordance with charity and common law. In particular they shall safeguard the Society and its assets by receiving reports on such subjects and at such frequency as they consider fit including the insurance policies held by the Society (including both their scope and the sums insured), by creation of such policies and procedures as they consider necessary to achieve good governance, and by periodically reviewing the risks

under which the Society operates and taking appropriate action to mitigate them as far as is practicable.

#### 12. President and Vice-Presidents

- (a) A president and up to 10 vice-presidents may be elected by members at the annual meeting for a term of three years, after which they can stand for re-election.
- (b) The role of president and vice-presidents are honorary positions to help raise the Society's profile and influence, by encouraging others to support the Society and its work and by acting as ambassadors for the Society.

#### 13. Committees, sub-committees and sections

- (a) The chairman of the Council shall be the chairman of the general purposes committee. The general purposes committee shall consist of the chairman of the Council, the honorary treasurer (if any) and such other person or persons as the Council shall appoint. The committee shall meet as often as may be necessary and shall report back to the Council. The Director shall convene such meetings but, unless honorary, shall not be entitled to vote.
- (b) Each Sub-committee and Section created under the powers of Clause 5(f) and (g) shall elect its own chairman and, if necessary, honorary secretary.
- (c) Sub-committees shall include an investment sub-committee, which shall be appointed by the Council and have no fewer than three members, with delegated power to manage jointly the Society's investment portfolio.
- (d) All sub-committees shall report to Council at six monthly intervals or as otherwise required by the Council. The quorum for meetings of sub-committees shall be one third of the members (subject to a minimum of two).
- (e) The direction and management of the Great North Museum: Hancock shall be vested in a management committee of the University of Newcastle which committee shall include at least one representative appointed by Council.
- (f) Each Section formed under Clause 5(g) shall have the right to nominate a representative to Council, subject to approval at the annual meeting and Clause 11.

# 14. Emergency Powers

In circumstances which the chairman or such other person as the Council may delegate properly deems an emergency, the chairman (or such other person) acting with at least one other member of the Council, may take such action as may be considered necessary to resolve such situation. (Should none be available, the chairman may act alone). In both cases the members of Council shall receive a report on the matter at the following meeting of Council.

# 15. Officers

#### (a) The Chairman

The chairman shall chair meetings of the Council and between meetings shall be responsible through the Director for the smooth running of the Society. Unless decided otherwise by the Council, the chairman shall act through the Director as the main contact on the Council for staff members (and the general purposes committee shall be responsible for staff and employment matters).

# (b) The Treasurer

The treasurer shall be responsible for managing the financial affairs including the preparation of budgets of the Society in accordance with Clause 19.

In the event that it is not possible to elect a treasurer at the annual meeting, the Council may employ a financial manager in which case the duties will be as those of the treasurer except that the financial manager shall not be entitled to a vote at meetings of the Council. The powers of a financial manager to sign cheques or commit the Society to expenditure shall be decided by the Council prior to the post being taken up.

# (c) The Director

The Director, who may be honorary or a member of staff (in which latter case he or she shall not be a member of the Council) shall record the proceedings of general and special meetings of members and of the Council and shall, under the Council's direction be responsible for the overall running of the Society, including management of staff, its correspondence and preparation of the annual report. In addition he or she shall make the Council aware of any grant applications being considered in the name of the Society, and shall in any case seek the Council's approval before accepting any grant above a limit which shall be set by the Council.

# 16. Eligibility for membership of Council

- (a) Nobody shall be a member of the Council who is aged under 18 or who would be disqualified under the following provisions of paragraph (b).
- (b) A member of Council shall cease to hold office if he or she:
  - (i) misses three consecutive meetings, except in a case of ill-health or other reason which the Council shall consider adequate by simple majority;
  - (ii) is disqualified from acting as a member of the Council by virtue of section 178 of the Charities Act 2011 (or any statutory re-enactment or modification of that provision);
  - (iii) becomes incapable by reason of mental disorder, illness or injury of managing and administering his or her own affairs;
  - (iv) notifies to the Council a wish to resign (but only if at least three members of the Council will remain in office when the notice of resignation is to take effect);
  - (v) is considered by two thirds of the other members of Council after due investigation (which shall include hearing the member's defence) to have been incompetent in discharging duties on behalf of the Society.
- (c) Provided that the Council contains no fewer than three members, the proceedings of the Council shall not be invalidated by any vacancy among their number or by any failure to appoint or any defect in the appointment or qualification of a member.
- (d) No person shall be entitled to act as a member of the Council whether on a first or on any subsequent entry into office until after signing a declaration of acceptance and of willingness to act as a Charity Trustee of the Society.

# 17. Employees

- (a) The Society shall have an equal opportunities policy.
- (a) All employees shall be given a contract of employment within one month of taking up their post.
- (b) Employees shall not be entitled to vote at any of the meetings of the Society.

#### 18. Personal Interest

Except with the prior written approval of the Charity Commission no member of the Council may:

(a) receive any benefit in money or in kind from the Society; or

- (b) have a financial interest in the supply of goods or services to the Society; or
- (c) acquire or hold any interest in property of the Society (except in order to hold it as trustee of the Society).

## 19. Council Procedures

- (a) Meetings of the Council shall be convened by the Director on a regular basis as determined by the Council or at least twice per year. The Director shall be required to convene an additional meeting on receipt of a request to do so by at least one third of members of the Council or at the request of the chairman of the Council. At all meetings of the Council one third of members shall constitute a quorum.
- (b) Should the chairman of the Council be unable to attend a meeting, the members present shall elect one of their number as chairman for that meeting, and such person shall, during the meeting, have the same powers as the chairman.
- (c) Full minutes of the meetings of the Council shall be kept by the Director and be available to any member for inspection on request.

#### 20. Accounts

- (a) The Council shall comply with the accounting requirements of the Charities Act 2011 (or any statutory re-enactment or modification of that Act) relevant to the income/expenditure level of the Society with regard to:
  - (i) the keeping of accounting records;
  - (ii) the preparation of annual statements of account;
  - (iii) the auditing or independent examination of accounts;
  - (iv) preparation of an Annual Report;
  - (v) the submission of these documents to the Council for their approval prior to their issue to members and consideration at the annual meeting and subsequently to the Charity Commission within the statutory timescale.
- (b) Cheques drawn on the Society's account above a limit to be set by the Council shall be signed by two signatories from a list of three or more signatories approved by the Council.
- (c) A budget of income and expenditure for the coming year shall be prepared for Council at the last meeting before the end of the financial year.
- (d) In addition all money belonging to the Society (except that currently needed in cash) shall be kept in an approved bank account or invested in a manner approved by the Council.
- (e) Nothing in this constitution shall prevent the Council requiring the accounts of the Society to be audited by a suitably qualified auditor should the Council so require.

# 21. Property

- (a) The property of the Society, both real and personal, shall be applied solely for the purpose of the Society's objects as defined in Clause 3. The Council shall cause the title to all land held by or in trust for the Society to be vested in the Official Custodian of Charities or, if this is not possible, in a corporation entitled to act as custodian trustee or in not fewer than three individuals appointed by it as holding trustees.
- (b) The Council may permit any investment held by or in trust for the Society to be held in the name of a clearing bank, trust corporation or any company which is authorised under the Financial

- Services and Markets Act 2000 as nominee for the Council, and may pay such a nominee reasonable and proper remuneration for acting as such.
- (c) The Society shall formulate and maintain policies for the acquisition and disposal of its collections which shall be in accordance with the guidelines issued from time to time by the Museums and Galleries Commission (or by any body which shall succeed the Commission as the national arbiter of good practice in museum management). The Council may at any time and in accordance with its acquisition and disposal policies, sell exchange mortgage or otherwise dispose of any of the real or personal property of the Society (subject in the case of the collections or any real or leasehold property to the approval of the members at an annual or special meeting) in such manner as shall be resolved or purchase any real or leasehold property for the purpose of the Society's objects and a recital of such resolution in the conveyance of such property shall be deemed to be conclusive evidence of its having been properly made and the receipt of the Council shall be a sufficient discharge to any persons paying money thereunder. Such persons shall thereupon not be accountable to see to the application of such money and shall be free from any obligation to ascertain that the resolution in question was duly made.
- (d) Notwithstanding anything hereinbefore but always in accordance with its acquisition and disposal policies, the Council shall have the power to loan such of its property as it may consider appropriate under such conditions as it shall set, and to sell, or otherwise dispose of redundant or unsuitable specimens and books in such a manner as it judges conducive to the interests of the Society unless such specimens were received by the Society with an express stipulation to the contrary.
- (e) For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in the foregoing shall relieve the members of the Council, as members of the governing body and Trustees of the Society, from any of their responsibilities in respect of the Society.

## 22. Constitutional Amendments

- (a) Amendments to this constitution may be made only at an annual meeting or special meeting convened for the purpose. Any proposals from the membership for any such amendment must be proposed and seconded by current members and must be given to the Director two months before the annual meeting or a special meeting to be convened for the purpose of consideration of such proposed amendment. The notice of the meeting shall give notice of the resolution setting out the amendment(s) proposed in writing. To be valid, the resolution must be passed by at least two thirds of those members present at the annual meeting or such special meeting.
- (b) Notwithstanding the above, no amendment shall be made to this clause or to the clauses relating to the objects, personal interests of members of the Council, dissolution, or the Council's powers of investment without the prior written approval of the Charity Commission.
- (c) Following any changes the Director or other nominated member of the Council shall promptly send to the Commission a copy of the amendment and the Director shall keep a copy of the amendments with this constitution.

# 23. Dissolution

(a) If the Council decides that it is necessary or advisable to dissolve the Society, it shall call in writing a meeting of all members, stating the resolution to be considered and giving the members at least 28 days' notice. If the proposal is confirmed by a two thirds majority of those present and voting, the Council shall have power to realise any assets which it may be allowed to dispose of in accordance with Clause 5(c) as are held by or on behalf of the Society. Any assets remaining after the satisfaction of any proper debts and liabilities shall be given or transferred to such other charitable institution or institutions or other organisation having objects similar to the objects of the Society as the members of the Society may determine, or, if that cannot be done, shall be applied for some other charitable purpose.

(b) A copy of the statement of accounts, or account and statement, for the final accounting period of the Society shall be sent to the Charity Commission.